IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

THOMAS WILLIAMS AND DONALD WILLIAMS

APPELLANTS

VS.

CASE NO. 2010-CA-1408

CLAIBORNE COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT, GERONIMO HARDWOOD TIMBER, LLC a/k/a GOOD HOPE TIMBER, INC., AND ANDERSON-TULLY COMPANY

APPELLEES

I.

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in

the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of this Court may

evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

- 1. Tommy Williams and Donald Williams Appellants

VI.	Summary of the Argument
VII.	Argument 3-22
VIII.	Conclusion 23-25
	Certificate of Service

III.

i

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES	PAGE NO.	
George County v. Davis, 721 So 2d 1101 (Miss.1998)	16	
Ladner v Harrision County Board of Supervisors, 793 So. 2d 637,639 (Miss. 2001) 5	
Martin v. Newell, 198 Miss. 809, 23 So.2d 796 (1945)	17	
Medina v. State er rel. Summers, 354 So 2d 779 (Miss.1978) 20,2	21,22	
Miss. Code Ann. § 65-7-4.1 (Rev. 2005)	14,15	
Miss. Code Ann. § 65-7-57 (Rev. 2005)	14	
Miss. Code Ann.§ 65-7-89 (Rev 2005)	14	
Section 65-7-4, Mississippi Code of 1972	14,15	
Myers v. Blair, 611 So.2d 969, 971 (Miss. 1992)	17	
Noxubee County v. Long, 141 Miss. 72, 82, 106 So. 83, 86 (1925)	17	
Paw Paw Island Land Co., Inc. And Warren County, Mississippi v. Issaquena and Warren Counties Land Co., LLC (No 2008-CA-01632-SCT)(2010) 5,13,16		
Picayune Wood Products Co.,v. Alexander Mfg., Co., 86 So 2d (1956)	20	
Smith v. Board of Supervisors, 124 Miss. 36, 86 So. 707 (1921)	17	

IV.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

It was an abuse of discretion and misinterpretation of the law for the lower court to hold that the adoption of a road map and road register system by the Claiborne County Board of Supervisors, pursuant to §65-7-4, Miss Code Ann., established Ross Road as a public road across the properties of appellants.

V.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 19, 2009, Claiborne County School District, Good Hope Timber, Inc., and Anderson-Tully Company filed their Petition to Confirm Right-of-Way against Thomas Williams. (RE-1) Later amendments by petitioners substituted Geronimo Hardwood Timber, LLC in the place of Good Hope Timber, Inc, (RE-15), and added the defendant's brother, Donald Williams, as an additional defendant.. (RE-8).

In their petition, plaintiffs asserted that Ross Road was a public county road since it was so designated in the year 2000 by the Claiborne County Board of Supervisors on their County Road Register which was attached to the petition as Exhibit "A". (RE-7). This document contains a general, non-legal description of the course of the road: "Beginning at the approximate Northeast corner of Section 26, T13N, R4E and runs in a Southeast direction through Section 27, Section 26, Section 7, and Section 18 to its terminus in the Northwest quarter of Section 18."

The Road Register clearly states that the Ross Road surface type was "PAVED".

It is significant to note that no one testified on behalf of plaintiffs Anderson-Tully Company or Geronimo Land Company, nor did any member of the Board of Supervisors, School Board or Superintendent of such board testify about their respective past use of Ross Road, nor

use by the general public past the paved portion of Ross Road behind two gates erected by appellants and their predecessors-in-title forty-five years ago.

VI.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellees' rely solely upon their allegedly lawful adoption, in the year 2000, of a Road Map and Road Registry System pursuant to § 65-7-4, Miss Code Ann (2000), that Ross Road is a public road from its beginning at Old Port Gibson Road and paved up to the property of appellants where the two access and cattle gates are located at the pavement's end. They further contend that, pursuant to such adoption by the board, and so adjudged by the lower court, that Ross Road continues on through appellants' pasture all the way through section 7 (16th Section lieuland) and onto the lands of Anderson-Tully (See Ex. 9 and 14).

Appellants argue that such a legal conclusion as to the "road" past the gate and across appellants' property does not comport with the stated intent of § 65-7-4, nor the restated intent found in § 65-7-4.1 (see attachments) that only established, publically used roads be so designated. The use of the "road" on Williams' property is now and, to the memory of aged citizens, has always been a fenced in pasture that has never been put to a public use; that Ross Road ends at the gates and the asphalt.

VII

ARGUMENT

Plaintiffs, Claiborne County School Board, Anderson-Tully Company and Geronimo Timber (Good Hope) filed their petition and amended petition to declare what is allegedly "Ross Road" in Claiborne County to be a public road extending through properties of defendants and all plaintiffs.

Without regard to the factual history of the public's use of the road, Plaintiffs rely solely on the recent map (Exhibit "5") prepared by the county's engineers which allegedly replicates the county's Road Map, and shows such extension. Although the statutory requirement (§ 65-7-4, 2000) that the county Board of Supervisors adopt a map of all county public roads and file same in the office of the Chancery Clerk, that specific map, although available to Plaintiffs at the courthouse where the hearing was held, was never certified and introduced into evidence. Defendants objected to entry into evidence of Exhibit "5" under evidentiary rules (MRE 1005, 902 AND 1002). Further, the county engineer testified that Exhibit "5" was drawn from the maps of the Mississippi Department of Transportation, but those base maps were, also, not introduced into evidence. Defendants sought to produce an official county map prepared by the Mississippi Department of Transportation (Exhibit "6-ID") which directly contradicts the engineer's testimony and proves the assertions of defendants that the road terminates at the end of the pavement before the locked gates. Defendants again profert that exhibit as an aid to the Court. Likewise, the statutory requirement that the county's Road Register describe the surface of the road, the Road Register introduced into evidence by plaintiffs states that Ross Road is "PAVED" (Exhibit "1) which also contradicts plaintiff's claim that the road extended past the paved, maintained portion of the actual road, and is in direct accord with the claim of defendants'.

Thus, plaintiffs sought to rest their case solely that, as a matter of law, Ross Road was a

public road by the adoption, in the year 2000, of a County Road Map that was never introduced into evidence, although available in the Clerk's office, and a Road Register, which, contrary to the Plaintiff's position, describes the road as "paved". These facts further bolster the assertion of the Williamses that "Ross Road" ends at the paved portion thereof.

The question of the actual use of Ross Road by the plaintiffs past the paved portion is totally lacking. None of the plaintiffs testified that they or anyone else had made any use of the "road" past the pavement, which "road" was described by several area witnesses as merely a "cow path". Ms. Barnes with the school board testified that she had been back to the school section "once", and that was with the game warden who had previously sought and was granted permission by the Williamses to go through their property. Any use of the "road" by the remaining plaintiffs was by testimony of the defendants and their witnesses that, to the contrary, plaintiffs' loggers always used Curtis Road to the north, not Ross Road; that the very few times they came through the Williams property, they did so only after getting defendants' permission to haul logs from isolated patches of woods. There was no testimony to the contrary, whatsoever, contradicting defendant's testimony that no member of the public, including the plaintiff's, ever used the "road" without the permission of the defendants. There is absolutely no evidence, or suggestion thereof, of any map or other delineation of the entirety of Ross Road , past the gates, that existed at any time prior to the year 2000.

The recently (November 10, 2010) decided case of <u>Paw Paw Island Land Co., Inc. And</u> <u>Warren County, Mississippi v. Issaquena and Warren Counties Land Co., LLC</u>,(No 2008-CA-01632-SCT) is dispositive of many of the issues in this case favorably for the appellants. In <u>Paw Paw Island</u>, the road in question ran from Mississippi Highway 465 in Warren County, over the mainline Mississippi River levee, and terminated at Paw Paw Island. Several decades ago, a private gate was placed across the road on the protected side of the levee and was later relocated

to the river side of the levee. The county maintained the road only to the gate. As mandated by statute (Miss. Code§ 65-7-4), in 2000 the county's Board of Supervisors adopted a map showing the road to be .6 of a mile, ending past the gate and up to Paw Paw Island. As in this case, the plaintiffs contended that this Board action automatically made the road public its entire length, without protest from the land owner.

The Supreme Court said "No".

"The chancellor also cited case law outlining the three exclusive methods for creating a public road: ' prescription, dedication, or pursuant to statutory provisions.' *Ladner v Harrision County Board of Supervisors*, 793 So. 2d 637,639 (Miss. 2001). See <u>Miss. Code Ann. § 65-7-57 (Rev. 2005) (petition); Miss. Code Ann. § 65-7-89 (Rev 2005) (eminent domain)</u>."

As in <u>Paw Paw</u> and <u>Ladner</u>, and as in this case, there is absolutely no testimony or evidence in the record of Ross Road, past the Williams' gates, being acquired by the county by prescription by public use, dedication, eminent domain or by landowner petition, the only legal means of such creation.

Thomas and Don Williams testified that their father purchased their property in 1965; that Ross Road was then a gravel road which ended at a gate and fence erected prior to that time by the previous owner, Mr. Perkins, to limit access and to turn cattle, the sole use to which the land has been used for decades. Long time members of the community in the area and the Williamses testified that the county later black-topped the road in the late 1970's, again ending at the gate. There is no "road" beyond the gate, only cattle trails, paths and pasture.

Alonzo Jones, the county's designated road manager testified:

Q. Mr. Jones, I'm going to hand you what's been introduced as Exhibit 1 and ask if you recognize that? I'll tell you it's a copy of the road Registry of Claiborne County.

A. Yes.

- Q. Okay, and the road is named what?
- A. Ross Road.
- Q. Okay, and what surface type is on the Road Registry?
- A. It says the type is paved.
- Q. Paved?
- A. Uh-huh.
- Q. Okay, is Ross Road paved?
- A. Up to the gate.
- Q. Up to the gate?
- A. Uh-huh.
- Q. But it says paved on that Road Registry and that's where you maintain it is to the gate?
- A. To the gate. (T 32-33)

Sheila Barnes, 16th section manager for the School Board, stated that she went to the school section one time in her 15 years as such manager. In 2008, she was accompanied by a game warden who had the Williamses' prior permission to go upon the property. (T- 43) She testified:

Cross Examination By Mr. Way:

- Q. Ms. Barnes, I understand that you've worked for the School Board since '95, is that right?
- A. No, I've worked in that office since '95. I've been employed since 1987.
- Q. You say you were on this property in 2008?
- A. Yes sir. We went out to visit the property.
- Q. And how did you get there? 6

- A. We went in the school vehicle.
- Q. And who?
- A. The School District vehicle.
- Q. Okay, but I mean by what route?
- A. Through Mr., through a road, Ross Road by Mr. Williams' house.
- Q. Okay, and you went back on there?
- A. Yes sir.
- Q. Did you get to talk to Mr. Williams any?
- A. No, we were with the game warden.
- Q. Okay, who had access through those gates?
- A. Yes sir.
- Q. And that's how you got back there?
- A. Yes sir.
- Q. You don't happen to have a copy of that letter to Mr. Williams, do you?
- A. Oh, no, sir. I have a copy but I didn't bring it.
- Q. You didn't bring it with you?
- A. No, sir.
- Q. But in that you exactly tell me what that letter says again.
- A. That we'd like to set up an appointment with him to discuss right of way to the Section.
- Q. And that's all it said?
- A. Well, we also put in there about the revenue that we have lost during the years by the Section not being leased out.
- Q. And I don't have the letter. You asked the Williams for access to the 16th section?

- A. We asked to meet with him so we could discuss it, yes, sir.
- Q. To discuss access to the 16th Section?
- A. Yes, sir. Uh-huh.
- Q. To your recollection, if you remember, does it say anything about Ross Road, that letter?
- A. Not to my knowing.
- Q. If you remember.
- A. Not to my knowing.
- Q. Okay. The letter didn't say we demand access through there, did it?
- A. No, sir.
- Q. You asked for access through there?
- A. Yes, sir.

Q. In 2008, that was a little bit ago. Describe how the surface and the terrain of the road as you went back there to the 16th Section. What was it like after you left the pavement?

A. It's just grown up.

Q. Kind of a path through there?

A. It's a path, yes, sir, there is a path.

Q. Has the timber been cut?

A. Not that I know of, no, sir." (T 43, 44 & 45)

Dirk Chrestman was called to testify as Plaintiffs' first witness. He was a draftsman instrumental in preparing the legislatively mandated County Map and Road Register in the years 1999 and 2000. He did so based on a 1995 map of Claiborne County prepared by the Department of Transportation, but no such base map was introduced into evidence to corroborate that testimony. (T-20) Then he prepared a map (Ex.5), dated April 19, 2010, allegedly based on a portion of the 2000 map he had prepared. (T-21) The 2000 map was likewise not introduced into evidence to corroborate this testimony, although it was available supposedly at the Chancery Clerk's office on the courthouse where the case was tried.

On cross examinantion, Chrestman testified with regard to the Road Register and Map:

- "A. It says it's paved.
- Q. Paved?
- Q. And you could take that to mean blacktopped or concreted?
- A. It could be DBST. It would be a waterproof surface.
- Q. It wouldn't be a dirt path, would it?
- A. No.
- Q. Did you go and physically look at Ross Road?
- A. No, sir
- Q. Did any of your people go out there?
- A. No, sir. (T- 22)

MR. WAY: Your Honor, that's all we have of this witness. I renew my objection to Exhibit 5. That's the map because it's based on the map that's not, that's available to the witness and he has it and he didn't bring it for us to compare. It was prepared – there is an existing county road map in this building that was adopted in 2000 and it's not before the Court. We object to a simulated exhibit copy." (T-26)

Alonzo Jones testified for appellee's at trial. He had been the county's road manager since October 15, 2005 (T 29) He was questioned on direct examination about exhibit 5, the map:

"Q. And does Ross Road cross through the Claiborne County School Board Section?

- A. Yes.
- Q. Section 7 and it goes into Section 18, is that correct?
- A. That's correct.
- Q. And are you familiar with this road?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Okay, and as the Claiborne County Road Manager do you consider that a public road?
- A. According to our Road Registry it's a public road, uh-huh.
- Q. Okay, and as far as you know it has been <u>at least since we developed this Road</u> <u>System, is that correct</u>?
- A. Since I've been here, since I've been Road Manager it has.
- Q. Okay, and do you know whether or not the county has worked Ross Road?
- A. We've worked Ross Road up to the gate. There is a gate was placed on that road some years before I got there but we just worked up to the gate and we turned around because unless we have authority from the Sheriff's Department or some other source we don't take down gates. We worked up to the gate.
- Q. Okay, and do you know where that gate is?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Do you know where it is on the map?
- A. Approximately where it is at. I can't just say exactly but it's before you get to Section 7.
- Q. Do you know when that gate was put up there?
- Me personally, I don't know but I've talked to, and this is hearsay but I talked to the Road Manager prior to me and they said the gate was installed after the county

went into the unit system so that was years before I became Road Manager."(T-)

(emphasis added)

The next witness for appellee was Sheila Brown who testified on direct examination that she was the 16th Section Manager for the Claiborne County School District since 1996 (T 36,37). With regard to past access to the 16th Section land lieu land, being Section 7, she testified on direct examination:

- "Q. Okay, tell me what is that document that you have?
- A. This is a hunting and fishing lease contract.
- Q. I'll hand you this document.
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Now that was in 1996, is that right?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Is that a true and correct copy of the lease?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Now was that lease, was the School District able to maintain that lease?
- A. No, sir.
- Q. Why not?
- A. Because at the time this section was leased to Off Road Hunting Club they did not have access to get in to the property so the School District had to return their monies.
- Q. Now what was preventing them from having access to it?
- A. They didn't have access to get into the section.
- Q. Okay.
- A. There was no right of way.

- Q. Was there a road that goes into the section?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Would that be Ross Road?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. What prevented them from traveling Ross Road?
- A. A gate.
- Q. And was that the gate the Williams had put up?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. So as a result of that the School District could not fulfill that lease and had to return the money, is that correct?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Now has the School District been able to lease that land at any time during the time that you have been coordinator other than the lease that you just talked about?
- A. No, sir.
- Q. And why is that, you have not been able to lease it?
- A. <u>Because we have no right of way to the section.</u>
- Q. No access?
- A. No access to get into the section.
- Q. Has there come a time when there has been some discussion between the School District and the Williams in connection with this property?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Tell the Court what that was about.
- A. A letter was sent to Mr. Williams asking him to come to the Superintendent's office to meet with the District concerning leasing Section 7 to work out an

agreement with him where we lease the land to have access to get into the property.

Q. Did he agree to allow access for lease purposes?

A. No, sir.

Q. He refused to allow access?

A. Yes, sir." (T-) (emphasis added)

Appellees final witness was Gloria Dobson, Claiborne County Chancery Clerk and Clerk for the Board of Supervisors. The County Road System map is kept in her office but was not produced to legitimize the prior testimony of Chrestman that his copy of a copy of a copy of the road map was authentic. She simply testified that notice of the map was published and that neither Donald nor Thomas Williams attended the public meeting to protest. This was done in order to bolster plaintiffs' contention that the adoption of the map and Road Register as mandated by the Legislature in Miss. Code Ann. § 65-7-4 <u>automatically</u> makes all roads shown thereon as "public roads".

That is clearly an erroneous legal position as pointed out in the <u>Paw Paw Island</u> case (at page 23) :

"The statutes cited offer no support for the county's position. In 1989, the county was carrying out its function to "inventory" county roads, indicating that the county was to make a "list' of what it already had, <u>not acquire new roads</u>. The chancellor correctly identified the only methods for creating a public road. <u>The county made no claim at trial that the disputed portion of</u> the road had ever become a public road by any of these methods, instead relying on the 1989 map for its claim. The Legislature has made clear its intent regarding these map-and-registry requirements as follows:

'The Legislature of the State of Mississippi finds and determines as a matter of public policy and legislative intent that the proceedings and public hearing

required for initial adoption of the official map and county road system register required by Section 65-7-4, Mississippi Code of 1972, <u>are not intended to lay out, open, designate</u> <u>or otherwise establish new public roads</u>, but to document and record <u>existing roads</u> which are, <u>at the time of the initial adoption of said map and register, adjudicated by the board</u>, <u>consistent with fact, to be public roads by dedication, under the methods provided by</u> <u>statute, or by prescription and required by public convenience and necessity.</u> (Miss. Code Ann. § 65-7-4.1 (Rev. 2005)

We find no error by the chancellor, either factually or legally, in finding that <u>the road west</u> of the gate is private and that the county never had title to the road."(emphasis added)

THE ROAD REGISTRY SYSTEM AND MAP OF ROADS

The state Legislature enacted § 65-7-1 et seq (effective July 1, 1998) restating the jurisdiction of all county boards of supervisors to have full jurisdiction over all matters relative to the public roads of the county. (§ 65-7-1 (1)). That code section further dictates that "all such exisiting county roads shall be opened and worked at least sixteen (16) feet wide, where practical, and in no case less than ten (10) feet wide."

Ross Road, past the Williamses' gates has never been worked by the county. (T-ms.templeton)

Miss. Code Ann. § 65-7-4 then compels the board of supervisors, on or before July 1, 2000, to make an inventory of all <u>existing</u> public roads and to establish both a county Road Map and Road Register System of all such county roads to be maintained, and that such Map and Register be up-dated by July 1 of each succeeding year. Before adoption of the Map AND Road Register, the board had to publish notice of a public meeting, or hearing, in a local newspaper. The minutes of these proceedings were to be recorded. As to the legislative intent, it was made clear, in subsection (6) thereof, that the map and register " shall include all public roads that the board of supervisors determines, <u>consistent with fact</u>, as of July 1, 2000, or such date the official record is adapted <u>are laid out and open according to law.</u>" (emphasis added)

If that "intent" was not sufficiently clear, the Legislature found it necessary to later enact Miss. Code Ann. § 65-7-4.1, effective April 17, 2000, which restates the legislature's <u>intent</u>:

"Legislative intent

The Legislature of the State of Mississippi finds and determines as a matter of public policy and legislative intent that the proceedings and public hearing required for initial adoption of the official map and county road system register required by Section 65-7-4, Mississippi Code of 1972, are <u>not</u> intended to lay out, open, designate or otherwise establish <u>new</u> public roads, but to document and record <u>existing</u> roads which are, <u>at the time of the initial adoption</u> of said map and register, adjudicated by the board, <u>consistent with fact</u>, to be public roads by dedication, under the methods provided by statute, or by prescription and required by public convenience and necessity." (emphasis added)

The map entered into evidence is not the map adopted by the Claiborne County Board of Supervisors. Indeed, there is no proof that such a map may be located in the office of the chancery clerk as required by law. The clerk gave testimony at trial but did not mention the alleged map. She did present minutes of the board meeting where the board adopted an "Official Map", but no minutes evidencing adoption of the Road Register. (Ex. 2, Pg. 2)

The Notice of Public Hearing (Ex. 2, p. 3) gives notice of a hearing regarding an "official map and road registry" but the road register description is sorely lacking. Miss. Code Ann. § 65-7-4 ((2)(6)) requires that the road register must contain the terminal points of each road and a "general description" of the terminal points of such road. The description of Ross Road states that it begins "at the approximate Northeast corner of Section 26, T13N, R4 EAST." This beginning point (at the Natchez Trace (see Ex. -)) is contrary to everyone's testimony that Ross Road

commences, instead, at Old Port Gibson Road in Section 3, T14N, R4E. (See Ex. 5). It is also said to terminate in Section 18 but Ex.5 clearly shows that Section 18 is in another township and range.

Therefore, the map produced is not the best evidence of the map adopted by the board of supervisors which, if it exists, should be in Gloria Dotson's office close to the court room, and the Road Register's "general description of the terminus points" are likewise in error as is the required notice to the public and the minutes of the Adoption hearing.

This argument is made should this Court reverse the <u>Paw Paw Island</u> case and hold, contrary to the stated legislative intent, that the mere adoption, by the board of supervisors, of a road map and road system register legally confers public status on all roads properly set out therein.

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