IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2010-CA-01408

THOMAS WILLIAM AND DONALD WILLIAMS DEFENDANTS/APPELLANTS

V.

CLAIBORNE COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT, GERONIMO HARDWOOD TIMBER, LLC a/k/a GOODHOPE TIMBER, INC and ANDERSON-TULLY COMPANY

PLAINTIFFS/APPELLEES

BRIEF OF APPELLEE/CROSS APPELLANT, CLAIBORNE COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT

EVERETT T. SANDERS MSB # 126 COMMERCE STREET, SUITE 103 POST OFFICE BOX 565 NATCHEZ, MISSISSIPPI 39121 TELEPHONE: (601) 445-5570 FACSIMILE: (601) 445-0777 ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF/APPELLEE/ CROSS-APPELLANT, CLAIBORNE COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A. The Chancery Court was correct in ruling, based on the evidence, that Ross Road is a public road. There was a Legislative requirement, pursuant to Section 65-7-4 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, Annotated, that all counties prepare and adopt an official map designating and delineating all public roads on the County Road System and a County Road Systems Register which contains the number and name of each public road on the system and a general reference to the terminal points and course of each road. On June 27, 2000 the Claiborne County Board of Supervisors complied with Section 65-7-4 and, without objection from Appellants, included Ross Road on the County Road System's Map and Registry. Both the Map and Registry reflect that the portion of Ross Road on which the Appellants have placed gates is a public road.

4

The Chancery Court was correct in ruling that Appellants failed in their abandonment

claim because they failed to provide evidence that the portion of Ross Road located behind the gates that they maintained was abandoned by Claiborne County. Appellants did not prove that Claiborne County had taken any formal steps to abandon any portion of Ross Road or that such portion had been in continuous disuse by the public for a period of ten years.

B. The Chancery Court erred in failing to award the Claiborne County School District damages against appellants for intentionally denying it access to the Sixteen Section property for lease purposes and denying it the revenue that the Legislature intended for the School District to receive. This is particularly true in light of the fact that the evidence is uncontradicted that Appellants would not permit lessees access to the property. There is statutory authorization for damages to be assessed in a situation such as the one in this case.

A. ROSS ROAD IS A PUBLIC ROAD AND CLAIBORNE COUNTY DID NOT ABANDON IT AS A PUBLIC ROAD

The law is well settled regarding the circumstances which give rise to this Court disturbance of the factual findings of Chancery Court. This Court's review of the decision of a chancellor is limited. *Nichols v. Funderburk*, <u>883 So.2d 554</u>, 556 (Miss. 2004). We will reverse only when the chancellor's determinations were manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or lacked the support of substantial, credible evidence. *In re Estate of Holmes*, <u>961 So.2d 674</u>, 679 (Miss. 2007). However, we review all questions of law de novo. *Bailey v. Estate of Kemp*, <u>955 So.2d</u> <u>777</u>, 781 (Miss. 2007).

In case *sub judice*, the Chancellor made the following findings with respect to posture of Ross Road:

"The County Road Registry, introduced as Exhibit 1 during the hearing, clearly depicts Ross Road as a public road, from its beginning off of Old Port Gibson Road through the property of the defendants. The description of the road in this document describes it particularly as 'Beginning at the approximate Northeast corner of Section 26, T13N, R4E and runs in a Southeast direction through Section 27, Section 26, Section 7, and Section 18 to its point of terminus in the Northwest quarter of said Section 18.'

Dirk Crestman, Civil Engineer with Williford, Gearhart and Knight offered testimony that he participated sometime during 1999 and/or 2000 in the preparation of the County Map for Claiborne County. Through this witness, Exhibit 5 was entered into evidence. This exhibit shows the section of land or road which is the subject of this litigation to in fact be Ross Road and to be a public road. Alonzo Jones, Road Manager for Claiborne County, Mississippi since October 15, 2005, testified that according to the aforementioned Road Registry, the road is a public road. Mr. Jones further testified that the county maintains said road up to the gate. His testimony was that they can go no further because of the gate.

On June 1, 2000, the Claiborne County Board of Supervisors, in the establishment of a County Road System Registry, established the portion of land which is the subject of this litigation to be a public road. On June 27, 2000, a hearing was held in regard to the various designations by the County and no one objected to Ross Road (as described above) being designated a public road.

That the evidence presented in this matter clearly establishes and the court hereby finds that the portion of land beginning at the approximate Northeast corner of Section 26, T13N, R4E and runs in a Southeast direction through section 27, Section 26, Section 7, and Section 18 to its point of terminus in the Northwest quarter of said Section 18 is a public road and is not the private property of the defendants." (RE 8)

It is rather ostensible that the Court's above findings are supported by the evidence. In July, 1998, the Mississippi Legislature by way of Section 65-7-4 of the Miss. Code of 1972 Ann. required that all counties prepare and adopt an official map designating and delineating all public roads on the County Road System and a County Road Systems Register which contains the number and name of each public road on the system and a general reference to the terminal points and course of each road. On June 27, 2000 the Claiborne County Board of Supervisors complied with Section 65-7-4 and, without objection from Appellants, included Ross Road on the County Road System's Map and Registry. Both the Map and Registry reflect that the portion of Ross Road on which the Appellants have placed gates is a public road. (RE 11.18)

Appellants seek to justify their failure to act by indicating an absence of knowledge that the road registration process was occurring. Lack of knowledge of the law is no defense. However, both of the Appellants admit that once they became aware that the County had adopted the Map and the Registry they did nothing to initiate a process with the Claiborne County Board of Supervisors to correct what they claim to be incorrect. The failure on the part of the Appellants to appear at the published hearing on June 27, 2000 operates to bar them from challenging the County Registry and Map for the first time in this proceeding.

Appellee, Claiborne County District, submits that Appellants have woefully failed to satisfy their evidentiary burden to support a claim of abandonment. In their Counterclaim, Appellants allege *inter alia*, the following:

"Further pleading Claimants would show that, even if it can be established as a public road at some point in time, that part of Ross Road lying easterly of the gate complained of has been abandoned by the Claiborne County Board of Supervisors for over forty years and has had no public activity theron for said period of time. (RE 2)

The evidence is uncontradicted that Claiborne County Board of Supervisors did not

engage in a formal proceeding in accordance with Section 65-7-121 of the Miss. Code of 1972, Ann. to abandon the portion of the road which is the subject of this litigation. In fact, Appellants make no such claim. It is, also, equally clear that there have been persons who have from time to time used the stretch of road which is in dispute to access property located behind the property owned by Appellants. The record is replete with testimony that the Forester, Ms. Barnes, the game warden, and representatives of timber companies and others have used the portion of Ross Road which is the subject of this litigation. This access is something that has apparently continued over the years. There is no minimum number of individuals required to use the road in order to defeat a claim of abandonment. *Ann May Enterprises, Inc v. Caples*, 724 So2d 1127,1130,1131 (Miss. App 1998) Therefore, Appellee suggests that Appellants have not shouldered their burden in demonstrating abandonment.

.

B. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO AWARD APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT DAMAGES AGAINST APPELLANTS

Applllee/Cross-Appellant, Claiborne County School District, submits that the Chancellor committed error when he failed to award it damages based on facts and the law applicable in this case. The facts are clear and undisputed that the School District manages Sixteen Section land located in Section 7, Township 13, Range 5 East. (RE) This land is located behind the gate which has been maintained by Appellants. It is also undisputed that the School District has been denied access to this property for lease purposes for over 15 years.

Pursuant to statute, the Claiborne Board of Education is entrusted with the management of Sixteenth Section properties for the benefit of the School District. Section ' 29-3-1 of the Miss. Code of 1972, Ann. provides, inter alia:

(1) Sixteenth section school lands, or lands granted in lieu thereof, constitute property held in trust for the benefit of the public schools and must be treated as such. The board of education under the general supervision of the state land commissioner, shall have control and jurisdiction of said school trust lands and of all funds arising from any disposition thereof heretofore or hereafter made. It shall be the duty of the board of education to manage the school trust lands and all funds arising therefrom as trust property. Accordingly, **the board shall assure that adequate compensation is received for all uses of the trust lands, except for uses by the public schools.** (Emphasis added)

During the period of time that Appellants prevented the School District from leasing the property, they we using the property for hunting purposes. Appellant Don Williams acknowledge that he hunted on the property and permitted other to hunt on it as well. (RE 56, 57) This was done without the permission of or compensation to the Claiborne School District. Appellant Williams

said that the game warden had given him permission to hunt. The game warden was without authority to give permission. In fact, the School District could not lawfully give Appellants or anyone else permission to hunt on Sixteen Section land without compensation.

ł

In the case of *Lynn v. Soterra Inc.*, 802 So2d 162 (Miss.App.2001) this Court recognized that damages are appropriate where one party has deprived the other party of use of his property by placing an obstruction across a public road. Although Soterra involved a boundary dispute, the question of damages arose in the context of Lynn erected a barrier to prevent Soterra from getting access to its' property. Soterra owned a clay pit out of which he sold clay by the truckloads. When Lynn blocked the road, Soterra was unable to sell the clay The Court determined Soterra was entitled to recover profits he had lost during the time period that road was blocked. Damages were awarded to Soterra in the amount of \$12,000 which reflected his lost profit.

In the case *sub judice*, the School District suffered damages in the amount of \$124, 326.50 due to its inability to leases the property to which Appellants denied it access for lease purposes. The period of time extends from 1995 to the present. It takes into consideration the minimum lease value which the School District assigned to hunting and fishing leases at various times during the subject period of time.

The Claiborne County School District submits that it is clear error on the part of the Court below to not award damages in this situation. The School District requests that this Court reverse the trial court on the issue of damages and direct that it entered an order awarding the appropriate damages or that this Court assess the damages as a matter of law based on the evidence in the record.

11

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Claiborne County School District submits that the trial court should be upheld on the issues regarding the public nature of Ross Road and the failure of Appellants to prove any abandonment on the part of Claiborne County. At the same time, the Claiborne School District urges this Court to reverses the trial court on the issue of damages and remand the case for the trial court to enter an order awarding damages, or in the alternative award the School District as a matter of law the \$124,326.50 which is uncontradicted in the record.